Poverty and prejudice shaped the lives of African Americans in Charlottesville. In the 1920s African Americans made up 28 percent of the town’s population but owned only 6.5 percent of its real estate. Many lived crowded together in very small houses or in subdivided single-family houses. Charles B. Holt would be an exception. In 1917 Holt bought this large building lot in the area called “the western suburbs of Charlottesville.” Moving away from cramped neighborhoods, Holt built a house surrounded by grass and trees. With his wife, Mary Spinner Holt (1885–1953), he lived on nearly a half-acre of land in a 3,400-square-foot house.

In the neighborhood of 116 8th Street, N.W., where Holt had lived in 1900, the same size parcel included three houses with new families and thirty residents. Nearby, on Cox’s Row, nine houses accommodated 37 people in nine families. At 223 Cox’s Row, three generations of the Roberts family, nine people in all, lived in a 600-square-foot house.

(Left) Map of Holt’s 8th Street house and (Right) Cox’s Row. The overlaid figure is the size and shape of Holt’s property on Preston Avenue. (Below) Photograph of Cox’s Row.

5 | WASHINGTON PARK: SEPARATE AND UNEQUAL

After the abolition of slavery, African Americans still confronted racial prejudice. Schools, churches, transportation, parks, and other public places became segregated by practice and by law. In 1919 Paul Goodloe McIntire (1860–1952), a merchant and philanthropist, built Charlottesville’s first public library, open only to white residents. In 1926 he generously donated land for public parks. Across the street from Holt’s house, McIntire established the 9.2-acre Washington Park for “colored” citizens. A mile north, McIntire Park, with 92 acres, served “whites.” Charlottesville’s parks and schools were not integrated until 1959.


6 | HOLT’S ARCHITECTURE

Holt built his bungalow in the Arts and Crafts style. This popular style connected the house with its natural site. The stone walls of the house and at the edges of the property united house and garden harmoniously. A covered porch strengthened the connection. Large windows let light and air into the living room, dining room, and bedrooms. Nine years after Holt purchased his land, he completed his house. He inscribed the dates “1925” and “1926” in two places—one on the house, the other outside. Look for the dates.

(Left) Photographs of the City Laundry, Triangle Service Station, Monticello Dairy, and Columbia Baking Company building and (Above) a map of the commercial development in Holt’s neighborhood.

7 | ASALIE MINOR PRESTON

The legacy of the Holt House endures beyond the lifetime of Charles B. Holt. Asalie Minor Preston (c. 1904-1982), a schoolteacher in Albemarle County’s “colored” schools, married Holt’s stepson and lived here after Charles B. Holt died in 1950. In 1877 Asalie Preston’s grandfather had purchased land north of Charlottesville for $300. Her father, a farmer and schoolteacher, worked the land and slowly accumulated over 66 acres. In the 1970s, suburban expansion along Route 29 North made the land valuable. Asalie Preston and her siblings sold the land for over $500,000 and later established a scholarship fund. By 2006, the Rives C. Minor and Asalie M. Preston Educational Fund was providing between $150,000 and $200,000 a year in scholarships for Charlottesville area children.

(Below) Images of the City Laundry, Triangle Service Station, Monticello Dairy, and Columbia Baking Company building and (Below) a map of the commercial development in Holt’s neighborhood.

8 | CHANGES IN HOLT’S NEIGHBORHOOD

Though he owned his home, Holt still had to contend with society’s prejudice and unfairness. In 1929 Charlottesville adopted its first zoning ordinance. The city forbade business and industry from encroaching on residential neighborhoods, but did not give Holt’s neighborhood the same zoning protection that many white neighborhoods received. Instead, the ordinance allowed commercial development in Holt’s neighborhood. The City Laundry, Triangle Service Station, and Monticello Dairy were soon next to Holt’s property. In 1941 the Columbia Baking Company built an industrial bakery next door to Holt. Later, Transco Company took over the building for its Harry’s appliance business. In 1963 the Legal Aid Justice Center renovated the structure as a new home for its civil legal services program.

The Holt House is an inspiration to people facing social prejudice and legal inequity. Charles B. Holt (1872–1950), born to former slaves in North Carolina, triumphed against the odds and achieved an American dream: home ownership. Holt's house is a fitting home for the Legal Aid Justice Center, which seeks justice for poor and low-income people, who are often at a disadvantage in our legal system. In 2002, when Legal Aid opened offices in the building next door, the Holt House stood abandoned and deteriorating. Legal Aid restored Holt's house to honor the Holt family and all families struggling to overcome injustice.

Charles B. Holt: Born into Freedom

Charles B. Holt, the man who built the Rock House, was born in 1872 in Alamance County, North Carolina. Holt's father and mother, Charles and Arena; his brother, George; and his sisters Rachel, Jane, and Margaret had all lived as slaves. In 1863, in the third year of the Civil War, President Abraham Lincoln issued the Emancipation Proclamation, declaring, “All persons held as slaves... are, and henceforth shall be free.” Unlike the older members of his family, Charles and his sisters Rabena, Peggy, and Polly were born into freedom.

Holt in Charlottesville: Work and Success

By 1900 the young Charles B. Holt had left his father's farm and moved to Charlottesville. Holt's skills and determination as a carpenter, builder, and entrepreneur helped him save enough money to buy land and build his own home.

In dedicating the Rock House, we honor Charles Holt and countless others, black women and men who prevailed against a system designed to crush them.

Charles Holt would not be crushed; he was rock solid.

And now both the story of his house and the house itself have been preserved. It could have been sold. It could have been torn down. Or it just could have been allowed to continue to deteriorate.

But the Legal Aid Justice Center decided to restore it.

Like its builder, Rock House is once again rock solid.”

— Julian Bond
April 18th, 2006
C.B. Holt Rock House Dedication